IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHANARA SOEUN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to find that Chanara Soeun's three prior convictions from 2007 encompassed the "same criminal conduct" for purposes of calculating the offender score for the current offense.

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Multiple offenses encompass the "same criminal conduct" for sentencing purposes if they were committed at the same time and place, with the same objective criminal intent, and involved the same victim. Here, Mr. Soeun had prior convictions for first degree theft, first degree robbery, and third degree assault, arising from a single course of criminal conduct occurring over a short period of time involving the same victim. Mr. Soeun had the same objective criminal intent in committing the three offenses—to steal a car. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to find the three offenses were the "same criminal conduct" and counted as only one point in the offender score?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 14, 2013, Mr. Soeun was charged with one count of first degree robbery. CP 1. At the jury trial, Young Park testified that one morning, Mr. Soeun entered the convenience store in Tacoma that

she owned with her husband. RP 39-41. Mr. Soeun asked her for money. RP 42. His hand was in his pocket as he walked toward her but he did not say he had a gun and she did not see him holding anything that looked like a gun. RP 55-57, 74, 79-80. Ms. Park gave him some money from the cash register. RP 42. Mr. Soeun then left the store, got in a car and drove away. CP 42. Ms. Park called the police and they apprehended Mr. Soeun at his home a short time later. CP 120, 124.

The jury found Mr. Soeun guilty of the lesser-included offense of second degree robbery. CP 15.

At sentencing, defense counsel argued Mr. Soeun's three prior convictions from 2007 for first degree robbery, first degree theft, and third degree assault, which the prior sentencing court ordered to be served concurrently, encompassed the "same criminal conduct" and should count as only one point in his current offender score. CP 41, 47, 62. The State objected. CP 66-67.

The trial court reviewed several documents from the 2007 convictions, including the judgment and sentence, information, probable cause declaration, jury instructions, verdict forms, and a note the jury submitted to the court during deliberations. RP 264-65; CP 83-

93. The court also reviewed the statement of facts set forth in the Court of Appeals opinion affirming the prior convictions. RP 263; see State v. Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 (No. 36317-8-II, Aug. 12, 2008); CP 66.

According to those documents, the prior convictions arose from the following facts. One day in June 2006, Eli and Carrie Adamson left their residence in a relative's truck to buy flooring at a hardware store.

Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819, at *1. After they left, Mr. Soeun stole their Honda Accord that was parked in the driveway. Id. A neighbor aw Mr. Soeun steal the car and called the Adamsons on their cellular phone. Id. Ms. Adamson turned the truck around, while Mr. Adamson spoke with police on their cellular phone. Id.

On their way home, the Adamsons passed Mr. Soeun driving their car towards them in the opposite lane. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Adamson turned the truck around again, followed Mr. Soeun into a cul-de-sac, and pulled the truck up next to the Honda when Mr. Soeun parked in front of his residence. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Adamson got out of the truck, yelled at Mr. Soeun to get out of the car, and grabbed him by his hair. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Soeun shifted the Honda into reverse and stepped on the gas pedal. <u>Id</u>.

The moving Honda ran over Mr. Adamson's ankle while he tried to pull Mr. Soeun from the car. <u>Id</u>. The Honda continued in

reverse, running over Mr. Adamson's torso and coming to a stop when it hit a telephone pole. <u>Id</u>.

The current sentencing court concluded from these facts that the prior offenses all arose from "separate and distinct acts" and thus did not encompass the "same criminal conduct." RP 264-65. The court counted the three offenses separately in Mr. Soeun's offender score. CP 47.

D. ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to find that Mr. Soeun's three prior offenses encompassed the "same criminal conduct" for purposes of calculating the current offender score

1. If a defendant has multiple prior convictions that were committed at the same time and place, with the same objective criminal intent, involving the same victim, the current sentencing court must count them as a single offense in the current offender score

In Washington, a sentencing court's calculation of a criminal defendant's standard sentence range is determined by the "seriousness" level of the present offense as well as the court's calculation of the "offender score." RCW 9.94A.530(1). The offender score is determined by the defendant's criminal history, which is a list of his prior convictions. See RCW 9.94A.030(11); RCW 9.94A.525.

The sentencing court must calculate the offender score based on the offender's "other current and prior convictions." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). If a prior sentencing court found multiple offenses "encompass the same criminal conduct," the current sentencing court must count those prior convictions as one offense. RCW 9.94A.525(5)(a)(i). If the prior sentencing court did not make this finding, but nonetheless ordered the offender to serve the sentences concurrently, the current sentencing court must independently evaluate whether those prior convictions "encompass the same criminal conduct" and, if they do, must count them as one offense. Id. ("The current sentencing court shall determine with respect to other prior adult offenses for which sentences were served concurrently . . . , whether those offenses shall be counted as one offense or as separate offenses using the 'same criminal conduct' analysis found in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a)").

Thus, the current sentencing court must apply the same criminal conduct test to multiple prior convictions, served concurrently, that a court has not already concluded amount to the same criminal conduct.

State v. Torngren, 147 Wn. App. 556, 563, 196 P.3d 742 (2008),

abrogated on other grounds by State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 295

P.3d 219 (2013); see also State v. Reinhart, 77 Wn. App. 454, 459, 891 P.2d 735 (1995) ("the language of the statute appears clear and unambiguous in mandating that the current sentencing court determine whether to count prior offenses, served concurrently, as separate offenses").

Multiple offenses encompass the same criminal conduct if they "require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). In determining whether two offenses require the same criminal intent, the court focuses on "the extent to which the criminal intent, as objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next." State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987). Courts consider "how intimately related the crimes are," "whether, between the crimes charged, there was any substantial change in the criminal objective," and "whether one crime furthered the other." State v. Burns, 114 Wn.2d 314, 318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990).

Crimes need not occur simultaneously to meet the "same time" element of the statute. State v. Porter, 133 Wn.2d 177, 182-83, 942 P.2d 974 (1997). Sequential crimes involving the same victim may qualify as same criminal conduct if one crime furthers the other. Id. If

the crimes are part of a continuous, uninterrupted sequence of conduct, they occur at the "same time" for purposes of the same criminal conduct analysis. <u>Id</u>.

A trial court's decision regarding "same criminal conduct" is reviewed for abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 537-38, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). Under this standard, if the record supports only one conclusion on whether crimes constitute the "same criminal conduct," a sentencing court abuses its discretion in arriving at a contrary result. Id. But if the record adequately supports either conclusion, the matter lies within the court's discretion. Id. The defendant bears the burden to prove multiple convictions encompass the same criminal conduct. Id. at 539-40.

2. The prior robbery and theft were part of the same continuous transaction—resulting from the same intent to steal—and therefore encompass the same criminal conduct

In committing the prior offenses, Mr. Soeun took a Honda
Accord from the Adamsons' driveway, drove it to his own
neighborhood, and parked it in front of his residence. CP 66. The
Adamsons followed him there and arrived at the same time. <u>Id</u>. Before
Mr. Soeun could get out of the car, Mr. Adamson approached him and
grabbed him by his hair. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Soeun shifted the car into reverse and

ran over Mr. Adamson's ankle as Mr. Adamson pulled him from the car. <u>Id</u>. The car continued moving, running over Mr. Adamson again, then coming to a stop when it hit a telephone pole. <u>Id</u>.

At the current sentencing hearing, the State argued the theft and robbery convictions arising from this continuous series of events did not encompass the same criminal conduct. RP 263-64. According to the State, the theft occurred, and was completed, when Mr. Soeun took the car from the Adamsons' driveway, and the robbery occurred when the car ran over Mr. Adamson's ankle. RP 263-64. The State's argument is contrary to the case law and the nature of the crime of robbery, which is defined as an ongoing offense.

A person commits the crime of robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another, or in his or her presence, against his or her will, by the use, or threatened use, of force, violence, or fear of injury. RCW 9A.56.190. "Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking." <u>Id</u>. Here, Mr. Soeun was convicted of robbery in the first degree, which required proof that he inflicted bodily injury in the course of the robbery. RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(iii).

Washington courts apply the "transactional" analysis of robbery, which provides that the force or threat of force used to accomplish a robbery need not precisely coincide with the taking. State v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. 529, 535-36, 277 P.3d 74, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1020, 277 P.3d 74 (2012). The robbery statute provides that the force may be used either to obtain *or retain* possession of the property. RCW 9A.56.190. Consistent with the statute, Washington courts hold that "the force necessary to support a robbery conviction need not be used in the initial acquisition of the property. Rather, the retention, via force against the property owner, of property initially taken peaceably *or* outside the presence of the property owner, is robbery." State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 293, 830 P.2d 641 (1992).

A necessary corollary to the rule that the taking need not coincide with the force used, is that the taking and force are not distinct criminal acts and may not be separately punished. <u>Id</u>. at 291. In <u>Handburgh</u>, the defendant stole a bicycle that was left unattended outside a recreation center. <u>Id</u>. at 285-86. When the owner of the bicycle came outside and saw the defendant riding off on her bike, she approached him and demanded that he return it. <u>Id</u>. When she tried to

retrieve the bike, he threw rocks at her and a struggle ensued. <u>Id</u>. The owner was injured in the struggle and left the bicycle behind. <u>Id</u>.

The Washington Supreme Court explained that the defendant in Handburgh committed a single crime of robbery and not separate crimes of theft and assault. Id. at 290-91. "[A] peaceable taking or a taking in the owner's absence, followed by the use of force, is a robbery" and not two separate crimes. Id. at 292. The force may be used *either* at the time of the taking, *or* "in flight after an attempt or commission of theft." Id. In either case, a single crime of robbery occurs. A thief's willingness to use force against those who would restrain him in flight after a peaceable taking raises the crime from theft to robbery. Id. at 292-93. It does not create two separate crimes.

Thus, robbery is an ongoing offense that begins with the initial taking and ends when the assailant uses force in an attempt to retain the property while effecting an escape. Truong, 168 Wn. App. at 535-36; State v. Johnson, 155 Wn.2d 609, 611, 121 P.3d 91 (2005). The taking is considered to be ongoing or continuing so that the later use of force to retain the property taken renders the actions a robbery. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d at 290; see also State v. Robinson, 73 Wn. App. 851, 856, 872 P.2d 43 (1994) ("Pursuant to [the transactional view of robbery], a

robbery can be considered an ongoing offense so that, regardless of whether force was used to obtain property, force used to retain the stolen property or to effect an escape can satisfy the force element of robbery.").

Because robbery is an ongoing offense, a person may not be punished separately for theft and robbery merely because the taking and force occurred at different times. See Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d at 291-92. Both robbery and theft include the essential element of a specific intent to deprive the owner of his or her property. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 88, 292 P.3d 715 (2012); RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a) ("theft" means "[t]o wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or services."). Theft is a lesser-included offense of robbery. State v. Ralph, 175 Wn. App. 814, 825, 308 P.3d 729 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1017, 318 P.3d 280 (2014). It is the use of force that raises the theft to a robbery. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d at 292-93. Thus, a person may not be punished for both theft and robbery arising from a single taking. Ralph, 175 Wn. App. at 825-27 (holding defendant's separate convictions for taking a motor vehicle without permission and second degree robbery, where defendant punched victim in face and drove away in his truck, violated the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy).

Here, only a single continuous robbery occurred and therefore Mr. Soeun's separate conviction for theft encompasses the same criminal conduct. As in Handburgh, the robbery began when Mr. Soeun peaceably took the Honda from the Adamsons' driveway.

Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d at 292-93. The robbery was ongoing and ended when he used force in an attempt to retain possession of the Honda in front of his own residence. Truong, 168 Wn. App. at 535-36. The initial taking occurred at the same time and place as the robbery and was indeed an *essential part* of the robbery. Both the theft and the robbery entailed the same objective criminal intent—to deprive the owner of the property.

In sum, the robbery and theft convictions required the same criminal intent, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same victim. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). They therefore encompassed the same criminal conduct and should have counted as only one offense in Mr. Soeun's offender score.

3. The prior assault and robbery were also part of the same continuous transaction—resulting from the same intent to steal—and likewise encompass the same criminal conduct

Mr. Soeun's conviction for third degree assault arose from his conduct of shifting the Honda into reverse and stepping on the gas pedal, causing the car to run over Mr. Adamson. CP 66. The assault occurred during the struggle between Mr. Soeun and Mr. Adamson over possession of the Honda. Id. It therefore occurred at the same time and place as the robbery and entailed the same objective criminal intent—to deprive the owner of the property. The assault and robbery therefore encompassed the same criminal conduct.

When a person commits an assault in an effort to deprive a person of property, the assault encompasses the "same criminal conduct" as the robbery or attempted theft. State v. Miller, 92 Wn. App. 693, 964 P.2d 1196 (1998); State v. Rienks, 46 Wn. App. 537, 731 P.2d 1116 (1987). In Miller, the defendant was convicted of third degree assault and attempted theft of a firearm after he struggled with a police officer in an attempt to deprive the officer of his firearm. Miller,

¹ The third degree assault conviction required proof that Mr. Soeun, "[w]ith criminal negligence, cause[d] bodily harm to another person by means of a weapon or other instrument or thing likely to produce bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.031(1)(d).

92 Wn. App. at 697. The Court held the assault was "intimately related" to the attempted theft because Miller could not deprive the officer of his holstered weapon without assaulting him. Id. at 708.

Both crimes shared the same objective intent—to deprive the officer of the weapon. Id. Therefore, the assault and attempted theft encompassed the "same criminal conduct" for sentencing purposes.

Id.; see also State v. Anderson, 72 Wn. App. 453, 456-57, 464, 864

P.2d 1001 (1994) (convictions for first degree assault and first degree escape encompassed "same criminal conduct" where defendant assaulted corrections officer while attempting to escape; both offenses shared the same objective criminal intent—to escape the officer's custody).

Similarly, in <u>Rienks</u>, the defendant was convicted of first degree assault and first degree robbery after he pointed a gun at several individuals inside an apartment while he took personal property from a briefcase and then left the scene. <u>Rienks</u>, 46 Wn. App. at 538-39. The Court concluded the two offenses were part of a single recognizable scheme or plan and were committed with no substantial change in the nature of the criminal objective, which was to rob the victim. <u>Id</u>. at 543-44. Therefore, they encompassed the "same criminal conduct."

This case is indistinguishable from Miller, Anderson, and Rienks. Mr. Soeun assaulted Mr. Adamson in an effort to retain possession of the Honda. CP 66. The assault and the robbery were "intimately related" because Soeun could not commit the first degree robbery without using force and inflicting bodily injury on Mr. Adamson. See Miller, 92 Wn. App. at 708. The two crimes were part of a single recognizable scheme or plan and were committed with no substantial change in the nature of the criminal objective, which was to steal the property. See Rienks, 46 Wn. App. at 543-44. Therefore, they encompassed the "same criminal conduct" and should have counted as one offense in the offender score.

4. Mr. Soeun must be resentenced based on an offender score in which the prior assault, robbery and theft are counted as one offense

When the trial court abuses its discretion in treating the same criminal conduct as separate crimes, the remedy is to remand for resentencing with instructions to treat the convictions as one offense in the offender score. <u>Dunaway</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 217. That is the remedy here.

E. CONCLUSION

The court abused its discretion in refusing to count the three prior offenses as one offense in the offender score. Mr. Soeun must be resentenced.