A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Should defendant's claim that the sentencing court abused

its discretion in refusing to score the three felonies he committed in

2007 as same criminal conduct be rejected since defendant failed

to meet his threshold burden of production by neglecting to

produce a transcript of the trial where the conduct underlying his

claim was proved? 

2. Has defendant also failed to show the sentencing court

abused its discretion in separately scoring each of defendant's three

2007 felonies as they were separately scored by the court that

calculated defendant's sentence for them when the limited record

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

1. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE

SENTENCING COURT ABUSED ITS

DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO SCORE THE

THREE FELONIES DEFENDANT COMMITTED

IN 2007 AS SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT

SHOULD BE REJECTED BECAUSE

DEFENDANT FAILED TO MEET HIS

THRESHOLD BURDEN OF PRODUCTION BY

NEGLECTING TO PRODUCE A TRANSCRIPT

OF THE TRIAL WHERE THE CONDUCT

UNDERLYING HIS CLAIM WAS PROVED. 

A sentencing court's finding that some of a defendant's prior

offenses encompass same criminal conduct alters the standard range of a

pending sentence, for those offenses are counted as one crime instead of

multiple crimes in the calculation of the defendant's offender score. RCW

9.94A.525( 5); RCW 9.94A.589( 1)( a). 

The defendant bears the burden of production and persuasion as to

each element of the same criminal conduct under RCW 9.94A.589( 1)( a). 

State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 538 -41, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). "[ E] ach
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of defendant's convictions [ therefore] counts toward his offender score

unless he convinces the court that they involved the same criminal intent, 

time, place, and victim." Id. at 540. "[ T]he statute is generally construed

narrowly to disallow most claims that multiple offenses constitute the

same criminal act." Id. (citing State v. Porter, 133 Wn.2d 177, 181, 942

P. 2d 974 ( 1997)). A sentencing court therefore cannot abuse its discretion

in refusing to enter a finding of same criminal conduct where the record is

unclear. Id. at 541. 

Defendant raised the applicability of the same criminal conduct

exception to the general scoring rule for the first time at the sentencing

hearing, and only after the double jeopardy challenge to the offender score

briefed in his memorandum failed to persuade the court. 2RP 264 -66; CP

40 -43. Defendant did not provide the sentencing court a transcript of the

trial where the facts underlying the 2007 convictions were adduced. 

Defendant also failed to provide a transcript of the sentencing hearing

where the court allegedly failed to conduct a same criminal conduct

analysis. The State supplemented the record with this Court's unpublished

opinion affirming those convictions; however, the statement of facts

contained therein was not drafted to support a same criminal conduct

analysis as that level of detail was not necessary to resolve the procedural
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issues decided by that case.
4

The State also produced the 2007 Judgment

and Sentence, which refuted defendant's same criminal conduct claim by

establishing the sentencing court that considered the challenged

convictions in 2007 also counted them separately as other current

offenses. 5 CP 132 -36. 

The sentencing court did the best it could to provide defendant a

hearing on the untimely raised same criminal conduct challenge to his

offender score. It reviewed the information, court' s instruction to the jury, 

questions from the jury, and verdict forms, yet nevertheless appreciated its

ability to accurately analyze the issue was compromised by defendant' s

failure to provide "[ t] he complete trial record." 2RP 265. That record was

essential to defendant proving the 2007 convictions encompassed same

criminal conduct. It would have presumably provided comprehensive

evidence of how each act occurred in the context of all others. It would

have also informed the court as to whether a same criminal conduct

analysis had already been performed at sentencing for the 2007 offenses. 

That information was peculiarly necessary in this case as defendant urged

the court to apply the narrowly construed same criminal conduct exception

4 Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 held counsel was not ineffective for stipulating CrR 3. 5
hearing was unnecessary and for failing to move for a mistrial based on a detective' s
testimony. 

5 The 2007 Judgment and Sentence states that defendant has four juvenile convictions, 
which are calculated at half a point each for a total of two points. RCW 9.94A. 525( 9). 

The 2007 robbery conviction is calculated as two points and the assault and theft
convictions are calculated as one point each, for a total of six points. CP 132 -33. 
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to prior offenses decided by a different tribunal, which, unlike the

sentencing court, had been exposed to the underlying conduct proved at

trial. 

It would have been an abuse of discretion for the sentencing court

to enter a finding of same criminal conduct based on the inadequate record

before it. First, because its ruling may have contradicted a 2007 ruling that

same criminal conduct did not apply. Second, the evidence of the

underlying conduct remained at least unclear, which means defendant did

not carry his burden ofproduction. RCW 9. 94A.589( 1)( a)' s " default

method of calculating a defendant's offender score is entirely in the State' s

favor because it treats all current offenses as distinct criminal conduct." 

State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 540, 295 P.3d 219 ( 2013). " The

scheme —and the burden —could not be more straightforward: each of a

defendant's convictions counts toward his offender score unless he

convinces the court that they involved the same criminal intent, time, 

place, and victim." Id. Defendant cannot fairly blame the sentencing court

for reaching the conclusion it did given defendant's burden of production

and decision not to provide the court any evidence or authority in support

of his claim. See e.g., Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118

Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P. 2d 549 ( 1992); State v. Elliott, 114 Wn.2d 6, 15, 

785 P. 2d 440 ( 1990) ( Arguments that are not supported by references to

the record, meaningful analysis, or citation to pertinent authority need not

be considered); Colorado Structures v. Blue Mountain Plaza, 159 Wn. 

7 - Soeun.doc



App. 654, 660, 246 P. 3d 835 ( 2011) ( " It is impossible for a trial court to

abuse discretion it was never called upon to exercise. "). This assignment

of error should be rejected as inadequately presented for review. 

2. DEFENDANT ALSO FAILED TO SHOW THE

SENTENCING COURT ABUSED ITS

DISCRETION IN SEPARATELY SCORING

EACH OF HIS THREE 2007 FELONIES AS

THEY WERE SEPARATELY SCORED BY THE

COURT THAT CALCULATED DEFENDANT'S

SENTENCE FOR THEM BECAUSE THE

LIMITED RECORD AVAILABLE DOES NOT

PROVE THEY ENCOMPASSED THE SAME

CRIMINAL CONDUCT. 

Multiple current offenses are presumptively counted separately

unless the trial court finds that the current offenses encompass the " same

criminal conduct." RCW 9. 94A.589( 1)( a). Crimes constitute the same

criminal conduct when they require the same criminal intent, are

committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim. State

v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d at 536; State v. Vike, 125 Wn.2d 407, 410, 885

P. 2d 824 ( 1994). A defendant bears the burden to establish each element

of same criminal conduct. State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d at 536. RCW

9. 94A.589( 1)( a) is construed narrowly to disallow most claims that

multiple offenses constitute the same criminal act. Id. at 540. Deciding

whether crimes encompass the same criminal conduct involves

determinations of fact by the sentencing court that will not be reversed

absent an abuse of discretion. Id. at 536. A court abuses its discretion if its
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decision is based on clearly untenable or manifestly unreasonable grounds. 

State v. Martinez -Lazo, 100 Wn. App. 869, 872, 999 P.2d 1275 ( 2000) 

citing State v. Olmsted, 70 Wn.2d 116, 119, 422 P.2d 312 ( 1966)). A

court does not abuse its discretion in refusing to enter a finding of same

criminal conduct when the record the defendant bears the burden to

produce remains unclear. State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d at 541. 

Defendant bore the burden to come forward with sufficient facts to

warrant an exercise of the court' s discretion on his behalf. State v. 

Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 74, 804 P.2d 577 ( 1991). Because defendant

failed to adduce pertinent portions of the trial record in support of his

claim, it must be analyzed from a statement of facts included in an

unpublished decision that was not drafted for that purpose. The decision

summarized the facts underlying the 2007 convictions as follows: 

On June 11, 2006, Eli and Carrie Adamson left their

residence in a relative' s truck to go to a hardware store. 

After they left, defendant stole their Honda Accord that was
parked in their driveway. A neighbor watched defendant
steal the car, and called the Adamsons on their cellular

phone. Carrie Adamson turned the truck around, while Eli

Adamson spoke with police on their cellular phone. 

On their way home, the Adamsons passed defendant
driving their Honda towards them in the opposite lane. 
Carrie Adamson turned the truck around again, followed

defendant into a cul -de -sac, and pulled the truck up next to
the Honda when defendant parked it in front of his
residence. Eli Adamson got out of the truck, yelled at

defendant to get out of the car, pulled open the driver's side

door, and grabbed defendant by his hair. Defendant then
shifted the Honda into reverse and stepped on the gas pedal. 
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The moving Honda pulled Eli Adamson under it
and ran over his ankle while he managed to pull defendant

from the driver' s seat of the car. The Honda made two

revolutions in reverse, running over Eli Adamson's torso
and coming to a stop when it hit a telephone pole. 
Defendant fled the scene and was subsequently
apprehended. 

State v. Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 (Div.II) at 1; See also CP 66. 

a. The vehicle theft completed at the Adamson

residence when its owners were away did
not encompass the same criminal conduct as

the robbery and assault defendant
subsequently committed against Eli
Adamson near defendant's residence

because the offenses occurred at different

times and places and apparently involved
different victims. 

A person commits the crime of theft when he or she " wrongfully

obtains or exerts unauthorized control over the property or services of

another...with intent to deprive him or her of such property...." RCW

9A.56. 020( 1)( a). Whereas a person commits the crime of robbery when

he or she " unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another

or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use

of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her

property or the person or property of anyone." RCW 9A.56. 190. If a

person inflicts bodily injury in committing the crime, he or she is guilty of

first degree robbery. RCW 9A.56.200( 1)( a)( iii). A person is guilty of third

degree assault if he or she, " with criminal negligence, causes bodily harm
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to another person by means of a weapon or other instrument or thing likely

to produce bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.031( d). 

Defendant failed to show the theft occurred at the same place and

time as the robbery and assault. The available record shows the theft was

completed when defendant took the vehicle from the Adamsons' 

residence. State v. Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 ( Div.II) at 1. The Adamsons

were not home to confront defendant at the time, so he encountered no

resistance as he illegally took exclusive control of their vehicle and drove

it away. Id. He continued in that exclusive possession as he drove it for an

unknown distance along a public road to his residence located on a cul -de- 

sac some distance away. Id. The record is silent as to whether he stopped

somewhere he could have hidden the vehicle along the way. He was

neither immediately nor continuously pursued from the location where the

theft was committed to the distant location where he was eventually

confronted. The pursuit did not begin until the Adamsons fortuitously saw

defendant as he drove past them in the opposite lane on his way home. 

The record is silent as to how long after the theft that chance encounter

occurred. 

The incomplete record provided does not specify how much time

separated each event, as the trial record might have; it is nonetheless clear

that adequate time passed for several significant acts to transpire: ( 1) 

Soeun.doc



defendant's theft of the car; ( 2) the neighbor's call to the Adamsons; ( 3) the

Adamsons' call to the police; (4) the Adamsons' change of direction; ( 5) 

the Adamsons' travel back to the vicinity of their home; ( 6) the Adamsons' 

observation of defendant in the opposite lane of travel; ( 7) the Adamsons' 

second change of direction; (8) the Adamsons' pursuit; (9) the Adamsons

parking; ( 10) Eli Adamson exiting the vehicle he was in; ( 11) Eli

Adamson demanding defendant exit the stolen vehicle and; the subsequent

struggle between defendant and Eli Adamson. 

Defendant relies on State v. Truong and State v. Handburgh to

argue that a single continuous robbery occurred when defendant stole the

Honda from the Adamsons' driveway. 168 Wn. App. 529, 277 P.3d 74

2012); 119 Wn.2d 284, 830 P. 2d 641 ( 1992); Brief of appellant at 10, 12. 

However, Truong and Handburgh are clearly distinguishable from the

case at hand. In both cases, the thefts were not actually completed before

escalating to robberies because the defendants in both cases were

immediately confronted before they had the opportunity to flee the

original scene of the crime without encountering the escalating resistance. 

In Truong, the defendant and a group of her friends were riding a

bus when the defendant grabbed an MP3 player from the victim's lap and

6 The Adamsons will often be referred to by their first names for the purpose of clarity. 
No disrespect is intended. 
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passed it to one of her friends. State v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. at 532. The

victim confronted the defendant and her friends, and when they refused to

return the MP3 player, a fight ensued. Id. The Court of Appeals affirmed

the defendant's conviction for robbery, finding that her use of force

almost immediately after [ the victim]...tried to get [ her MP3 player] 

back" supported the conclusion that the defendant used force to overcome

the victim's efforts to resist the taking. Id. at 539. 

Likewise, in Handburgh, the victim left her bicycle unattended for

several minutes while inside a recreation center, and when she returned

she found the defendant riding it. State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d at 286. 

The defendant refused to return the bicycle, and verbally threatened the

victim before he physically assaulted her. Id. The Court held that the use

of force against the property owner for the purpose of retaining the bicycle

constituted robbery. Id. at 293. 

Here, unlike in Truong, defendant stole the vehicle outside the

presence of its owners and removed it from the scene while its owners

were too far away to immediately defend against the theft. The pursuit that

followed occurred after defendant exerted exclusive control over the

vehicle over some substantial time and distance. Unlike in Handburgh, 

defendant waited until the Adamsons had left their residence, presumably

assuming that they would not return for a significant period of time. State
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v. Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 ( Div.II) at 1. Defendant was only confronted

by the Adamsons when they coincidentally drove past him on their way

home. Id. The use of force did not occur immediately after the theft of the

vehicle, unlike in Truong and Handburgh, but rather after defendant had

already driven the vehicle to his residence. Id. 

Finally, the limited record available makes it reasonable to

conclude that both Eli and Carrie Adamson owned the Honda and were

thus both victims of the theft; whereas only Eli was a victim of the robbery

and assault. 

In State v. Dunaway, our State Supreme Court held that crimes

involving multiple victims must be treated as separate for purposes of

calculating a defendant' s offender score. 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P. 2d

1237 ( 1987). Thus, " two crimes could not be the same criminal conduct if

one involves two victims and the other only involves one." State v. Davis, 

90 Wn. App. 776, 782, 954 P. 2d 325 ( 1998); see also State v. Davison, 56

Wn. App. 554, 558, 784 P. 2d 1268 ( 1990). 

Because defendant failed to meet his burden of production and

failed to adequately provide a record which would resolve the question of

vehicle ownership, an inference can be made that both Eli and Carrie were

victims of the theft because the stolen Honda belonged to both of them

while only Eli was a victim of the robbery and assault because he was the

14 - Soeun. doc



only one injured during the struggle with defendant. Thus, the theft and

robbery do not encompass the same criminal conduct, as the robbery and

assault only had one victim while the theft had two. 

Defendant's argument —that the robbery and theft constitute the

same criminal conduct because the robbery was an ongoing act that began

in the Adamsons' driveway and ended at defendant's residence — fails, as

the theft was completed before the robbery occurred, and the crimes did

not occur in the same time and place and did not apparently involve the

same victims. 

b. Defendant failed to prove the robbery and
assault encompassed the same criminal

conduct from the incomplete record

provided as it remains unclear how much

time and distance separated each injury or
how the criminal negligence involved in

leaving a running vehicle in a condition to
inadvertently run over someone would
further the robbery. 

A person is guilty of third degree assault if he or she, " with

criminal negligence, causes bodily harm to another person by means of a

weapon or other instrument or thing likely to produce bodily harm." RCW

9A.36.031( d). A person commits the crime of robbery when he or she

unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or

her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of

15 - Soeun. doc



immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her

property or the person or property of anyone." RCW 9A.56. 190. 

Based on defendant' s failure to provide a complete record of the

relevant facts the exact time and distance isolating the conduct underlying

the robbery and assault remain unclear. The available record does

establish that defendant was parked in front of his residence when Eli

Adamson approached him. State v. Soeun, 2008 WL 3319819 (Div.II) at

1. Defendant shifted the vehicle into reverse when Eli grabbed him and

completed the robbery when he drove the car of Eli' s ankle. Id. It is not

clear how long after that robbery was completed that Eli managed to pull

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